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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION
Gabriel Garavanian, Katherine R. Arcell, Jose' )
M. Brito, Jan-Marie Brown, Rosemary g
D'Augusta, Brenda K. Davis, Pamela Faust, oA
Carolyn Fjord, Don Freeland, Donna Fry, Harry g CASENO.: 3:22-cv-6841
Garavanian, Yvonne Jocelyn Gardner, Valarie ) COMPLAINT TO PROHIBIT
Ann Jolly, Michael C. Malaney, Len Marazzo, ) THE ACQUISITION OF
Lisa McCarthy, Timothy Niebor, Deborah M. ) SPIRIT AIRLINES INC. BY
Pulfer, Bill Rubinsohn, Sondra K. Russell, June ) JETBLUE AIRWAYS
Stansbury, Clyde D. Stensrud, Gary Talewsky, ) \CI?OR]})ASTI}%}\}Ig}lj gg CTION 7
Pamela S. Ward, Christine Whalen, g OF THE CLAYTON
Plaintiffs, g 11&§VTITRUST ACT,15US.C. §
V- )
)
JETBLUE AIRWAYS CORPORATION and g
SPIRIT AIRLINES INC. )
Defendants. g
INTRODUCTION
1. This is a private antitrust action seeking an Order of the Court prohibiting the

proposed elimination of Spirit Airlines, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as “Spirit”) by JetBlue
Airways Corporation (hereinafter referred to as “JetBlue™) as a violation of the antitrust laws.

2. The "threatened loss or damage" to the Plaintiffs and to the public at-large by
the potential elimination of JetBlue’s competitor, Spirit - the most innovative, passenger
friendly, ultra-low cost and unique price-cutting airline in the industry - is substantial and
foreboding.
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3. The proposed acquisition price is not trivial: $3.8 billion ($3,800,000,000.00).

4. Spirit is a significant price-cutting rival of JetBlue, as well as a significant rival
to the other domestic airlines, including the Legacy Carriers and the other Low-Cost Carriers.

5. The current trend toward concentration, the lessening of competition and the
tendency to create a monopoly in the airline industry is unmatched and unparalleled.

6. The proposed acquisition is a violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Antitrust
Act (15 U.S.C. § 18) because the direct effect of the elimination of Spirit may be
“substantially to lessen competition, or tend to create a monopoly” in the passenger airline
industry by the elimination of a significant competitor in a non-trivial transaction.'

7. JetBlue would gain a majority market share on more than a dozen routes where
neither it nor Spirit previously dominated and it would eliminate the price-cutting by Spirit.
Therefore, JetBlue made an unsolicited tender offer to purchase Spirit in order to eliminate
that competition.

8.. The Spirit Board, its executives and its antitrust counsel all undertook a
rigorous review of the JetBlue offer and concluded that the acquisition of Spirit by JetBlue
could never be approved by regulators and was therefore “illusory”.

9. The Spirit Board rebuffed JetBlue’s first tender offer to purchase Spirit based

upon the following additional factors:

a Fares would be increased;
b. Low Cost Airlines would be cut in half, losing 50% of capacity;
c. The largest price-cutting competition would be eliminated;

i

The claim that the acquisition would be legal is “illusory”;

e. Spirit competition especially in the Northeast corridor from Boston to
New York, Washington D.C., and Florida would be eliminated as an act
in furtherance of the illegal agreement between JetBlue and American
Airlines to continue to engage in !"#%" violations of the antitrust law by
sharing revenue and dividing markets and customers and acting as a &"
'(O)*+ merger;

f. The acquisition of Spirit “will have lasting negative impacts on

consumers;”

U1 " () (&*(5+(» -. /58" (O™ 951233 O#S(A18546™3(4" (4" 184" "$(4. 18(. 3(*8--8 738(9 = &(4"13&" (" ;. 3 "6 (4" (H&<<"14"(81(4" (. " /(
LHSIBHS/ (7T (MR <"1 (3+ . --( H=2H1"(BULHS-/ (G (4" BHLHS-5(S+" (7 +&-"(&1(- " /(4 . 18(8*(S+" (388 ?(&L(&S+"1(3+. 1" (
B -(@(7+" 1" (L (R @G <" (&LH™ (- " /(- HSKBHS/ (™ s (H&<<<"TH"(H™ (- ™ /(3" HOH& ™ (& (S+" (H&2 ™ SLA(S+ (""" H9(&*(
328+(.H#=213188 " (1 " H#(A"(32A38. "S-/ (S&(-""33" " (H&<<4"$Ih& ">(&1(8" " 6(8&(#1" .§" (. (<&" &4&-/BC(DE<4+.3i3(066" 68F(
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g. The acquisitions “would substantially raise fares for consumers”; and
h. JetBlue is a high-fare airline acquiring a low fare airline and would
therefore act to reduce capacity and increase prices to customers.

10. Then, in the face of Spirit’s assertions of numerous anti-competitive conduct
and substantive and unequivocable lessening of, and probable destroying of, competition,
JetBlue simply offered more money to Spirit. JetBlue offered to “sweeten the deal” by paying
the shareholders $400 million, even if the proposed combination failed to go through. Thus
the shareholders could move forward with the JetBlue combination without any risks. The
$400 million to shareholders was to quiet the shareholders’ knowledge of the illegality of the
acquisitions.

11. This acquisition eliminating the competition of Spirit and the ensuing hush
money that is proposed to be paid to Spirit’s shareholders must be enjoined and voided by this
court; and any consideration, monetary or otherwise, that may have already been paid either to
the company or to its shareholders must also be voided, divested and / or disgorged.

12. The proposed acquisition is prohibited by the binding authority of the Supreme
Court of the United States in its decisions in , #+— .$/0+"$1+28324 _5*"&$/*(*"%, 370 U.S. 294
(1962), 4 .5 &8/*(*"%§3286057 (& 1105(§8 (*5+. (78, (-9, 374 U.S. 321 (1963), 4 .5*""&5/*(*"" %8328
17, <5.;<S1L+<P (=08 <"#5)(, 377 U.S. 271 (1964), 4 .5 &$/* (" 1§326>+ . M$@#+) "#=§1+, 384
U.S. 270 (1966), 4 .5*"&8/*(*"183286 (A%*S, #"—5.B§1L+2, 384 U.S. 546 (1966), and 4 .5*"'&5/*(*""$
3BC (M ('S, #" =5 BSL+#I+#(*+., 410 U.S. 526 (1973).

13. This private action is specifically authorized under Section 16 of the Clayton
Antitrust Act (15 U.S.C. § 26) which provides, in pertinent part, that “any person [including
members of the public]...shall be entitled to sue and have injunctive relief ...against
threatened loss or damage by a violation of the antitrust laws.”

14. The remedy afforded to private plaintiffs includes divestiture, or the
prohibition, of any potential unlawful acquisition. As was unequivocally stated by the United
States Supreme Court in 1 (75"+#.5(832% - <"#) (.§/*+#" W 1+<1(.=, 495 U.S. 271, 283 (1990),
“['T]he literal text of Section 16 is plainly sufficient to authorize injunctive relief [in favor of a
private Plaintiff], including an order of divestiture, that will prohibit that conduct from causing

that harm.” 2 This proposed acquisition is a substantial threat of harm and injury to the

2 GHI3(A145.§" (. HHE." (13(34" ikt ./ 25+ &AM B(A/(1"HSH&." (1I(&X(S+"(, - /98" (O "SISI235(OHS(&" (S+"(; 182" 63(5+. 5+ (418:483"6(
H=2H3008 " (483"3(. (118" " "6(-&33(81(6. <. ; "(B&(S+" (K- B H*I(A/ (1" . 38" (&*(S+"(4&S" " $h.-(-"33" "4 ; (&KX (HE&<4"SHSH& " (k" ($+"'( ¥L-H™"(
<.12"§(h" (54&-. Hh& " (&*(8+""(. " $H$1238(-. 738(((
-3-
Complaint to Prohibit the Acquisition of Spirit by JetBlue Airways in Violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Case 1:23-cv-10678-FDS Document 1 Filed 11/03/22 Page 4 of 27

Plaintiffs in that they will face higher fares, fewer flights, less consumer choice than they
otherwise would have, and they would be threatened with the inability to use air travel at all.

15. Private actions to vigorously challenge anticompetitive acquisitions have been
encouraged by the Congress and the Supreme Court of the United States in strong and
unmistakable language: “The Act’s other provisions manifest a clear intent to encourage
vigorous private litigation against anticompetitive mergers." 1 (75"+#.5(832% - <"#5) (. $/*+#"$
1+<1(.=,495U.S. 271, 284 (1990)

16. Plaintiffs therefore bring this action under the authority of Section 16 of the
Clayton Antitrust Act (15 U.S.C. § 26) and allege that the pending elimination of Spirit by
JetBlue Airlines constitutes a substantial threat of injury to these Plaintiffs because this
acquisition may have the effect “substantially to lessen competition” and “tend to create a
monopoly” in a “line of commerce” in a “section of the country” in violation of Section 7 of
the Clayton Antitrust Act (15 U.S.C. § 18). In addition, the contract to eliminate Spirit
constitutes a non-trivial transaction eliminating a significant rival, which is not a failing
company, that eliminates a substantial and growing, cost-cutting competitor from the market.

17. The proposed acquisition substantially affects the interstate and foreign
commerce of the United States in that flights, supplies, maintenance, parts and all the other
necessities of the passenger airline industry are in the constant flow of the interstate and
foreign commerce of the United States. Because Defendants transact business in this judicial
district, venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§15, 22 and 26, and 28 U.S.C. §
1391.

18. Plaintiffs seek an Order from this Court prohibiting the proposed acquisition by
JetBlue of Spirit that would eliminate Spirit as a significant competitor.

19. The relevant market is the entire United States for low-cost carriers and the
entire United States for all carriers, along with the fourteen submarkets described in paragraph

84 infra.

(T4 (1I(&*(B+"(, - /9&" (OH#S(IL(MBYB, B(N(OJ>(41&5%6"3(.3(*&--&738(9P'02'#$%5"(1"-%"*(*&1(41%5.$"(4.1$%"3R("S#"4$%&'R(#&3$3B((
0" /(4"13& >(M<>(#&1481 . $1& ">(&1(. 33&#H. & " (3+ -(A"(" $%$ 6(5&(32"(*&1(. 6(+ 5 (H™Q2 " #85" (1" (™ (. "/ (#8&218(&*($+" (M "45"6(
15.§"3(+.5%" (021%36%#$%& (&5"1(+"(4. 188" (. ; 4" 3(6+1" 8" " "6(-&33(&1(6. <. (A/(.(5%&-.$%&'(&*($+"(.'$%$123$(-.73>(%'#-26%';(
348" 3(IT>(IU>(IV>( (IW(&*($+%3($%$-">(7+"'( ( "6"I(H+"(3. <"(#&"6H&" 3( 641%™ #44-""3(. (k™ Q2" #SS" (1""H"*(. ; . K" 3%(
$+1 L§"TB(H& " 62#48(5+ . §(7H--(#.23"(-&33(81(6. <. ; (3( 1. "8"6(A/ (#&2183(&*("=248/>(2 " 6"1($+"(12-"3(; &5"'1 ™4™ ; (32#+(418#" 64" 3>(
"6(24&" ($+"("S"#2$%&'(&*(41&4"1(A&'6(.;.%'3$(6 <.;"3(*&1(."(h"Q2"#Hh&" (h<<41&5%6""$-/(;1."$"6(. "6(. (3+&7H" ; (§+. $($+ (6.7 ;")

*( 11"4.1.A-"(-&33(81(6. <. ; "(k3(h<<<<"6H.$"(. (41" i /(T2 H8& (<. /(4332"8(K1&5H66>(G+ . §( " &+ 5 (+" 1™ (#& 5. 4™ 6(3+ -

A"(#8 " 3812"6(S&(" " $H8-"(. " (4 138 (ML <(HE14&1. 18" >(&1( . 33&HH . $& " >( "SHAY(SH (M THS"6( 185" D(S&(ALH" ; (32HB(*&1(h™ Q2 "#8H5" (1" 4"(
;738 /(< <& (#.114"1(32A0 " #5($&(S+" (021436 H8h& " (&*(S+" (1 21* . #"(GL. "348&1$. $&" (X&.16(2 " 6" 1(32A8K8-"(PY (&*(GH$- (UWB(P (
/(AT (276 1($+%3(3 S (1" (7 HiH S+ (K- ™ 8i*(32A38. "h. -/ (415 . -B($+" (#&21§(3+. (. 7 . 16(+" (H&38(&* (321 (h"#-264" ; (- (
1,38 A-"(L 8981 /13(*" (S&(324+(K- . 1" §+*BC((
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20. The passenger airline industry is a critical and vital modern necessity to the
commercial, social and political well-being of the United States. Competition rather than
combination has been and should be enforced in the United States so that these Plaintiffs, and
the public at large, may enjoy the benefits of competition, including, 5.*'#(75(, the best
possible services at the lowest possible prices. Vigorous enforcement of the antitrust laws by
private persons is an essential part of the Congressional plan to ensure that competition rather
than monopoly is, and remains, the rule of trade in the United States, including the airline
industry.

21.  Spirit is the seventh largest airline in the United States with 4.9% of the
national market share of airline seats by revenue in the United States. Spirit initiated regular
air passenger service in 1992 between Detroit and Atlantic City and Boston and Providence.
Soon thereafter the major airlines began their furious feeding frenzy of mega-mergers which
has resulted in the reduction of the major airlines from eight competitors to four, effectively
halving the principal competitive air transportation choices to the passenger public.

22. The vital and critical importance of the enthusiastic and innovative competition
of Spirit and its presence in the airline markets can be measured against the near total lack of
competition among the other major airlines and the abuses that have flowed and continue to
flow as a result of their oligopoly. The trend in the U.S. airline industry is rushing headlong
toward concentration and is dramatically illustrated in this JetBlue acquisition. Spirit stands
out as an airline that offers low fares, and, indeed, for a large number of people, the chance to
use air travel at all.

23. This trend toward concentration was unanimously condemned by Chief Justice
Warren in the Supreme Court opinion in , #+—.8/0+"$1+2%384 . 5" &8/*(*""%, %; 1#(, which made
it clear that the Court should and would take steps to curtail incipient mergers whose effect
will be to eliminate competition in an industry: “We cannot avoid the mandate of Congress
that!tendencies toward concentration in industry are to be curbed in their incipiency,
particularly when those tendencies are being accelerated through giant steps striding across a
hundred cities at a time. In the light of the trends in this industry we agree with the
Government and the court below that this is an appropriate place at which$*+$) (715(S0(7*.” D&.
at 346.

24, Spirit, with its innovative, low-cost service is an important bulwark against this
almost unstoppable trend toward complete concentration and monopoly in the airline industry.
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(See Chart Following.)
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25. In 2008 Delta Airlines swallowed its significant actual and potential rival,

Northwest Airlines, to form the largest airline in the United States at the time. Less than two
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years later, in 2010, United Airlines devoured its significant actual and potential rival,
Continental Airlines, to become the then-largest airline in the United States. In 2011,
Southwest Airlines consumed its significant actual and potential Low-Cost Carrier rival,
AirTran, to become the carrier with the largest number of passengers in the United States and
the largest Low-Cost Carrier. And in 2013, American Airlines ingested its significant actual
and potential competitor, USAir, becoming the largest airline in the United States. Since these
airline mega-mergers began in 2008, capacity has been substantially reduced and airfares
increased notwithstanding a strengthening economy and increased demand for air travel.
According to a 2013 study, since 2007, scheduled domestic capacity in the 29 largest hubs has
been reduced by 9%; in the 35 medium hubs, scheduled domestic capacity has been reduced
by 26%; and in the 70 small hubs, scheduled domestic capacity has been reduced by 18%. The
remaining flights have become more crowded.

26. If JetBlue’s proposed elimination of Spirit is consummated, low-cost air carrier
capacity in the United States will be reduced by 50% and fares in the airline industry will be
increased.

27. Spirit, on the other hand, has countered the trend toward concentration and
reduced capacity. In 2006, just when the Legacy Carriers had begun to cut back on capacity,
Spirit, the cost-cutter, moved to compete more fiercely by exercising options to order
30 Airbus A320-200 aircraft for further expansion. In 2007, Spirit Plus was rebranded as the
"Big Front Seat" and business class service was discontinued. Spirit was the “value” airline
for the flyer on a budget, a frugal cost-cutter. In April 2010, Spirit Airlines became the first
U.S. airline to charge passengers for carry-on bags. They were later followed by Allegiant
Air and Frontier Airlines, the other low cost airlines.

28. But Spirit nonetheless delivered on service. In November 2017, Spirit's on-
time performance was second in the country. In February 2018, Spirit was the only airline in
North America to make the list of the top 10 safest in the world.

29. In May 2018, Spirit announced that it would be the first ultra-low-cost carrier
to fit their aircraft with high-speed Wi-Fi access, starting in the fall of 2018. Satellite Wi-Fi,
individual entertainment screens at each seat, amenities, personal and premium service at
lower cost, new destinations, expansion and plans for substantial increases in capacity and
other offerings attracted both business and pleasure budget-minded passengers.

30. On December 23, 2019, Spirit Airlines announced its intention to purchase an
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additional 100 new Airbus A320neo-family aircraft. Spirit was continuing to expand.

31. Since 2007, while the Big Four were shrinking their services, initiating hidden
charges, cutting back their flights and inflating their fares, relative newcomer Spirit was
expanding and business was burgeoning. In 2021, Spirit achieved annual operating revenues
of $3.231 billion. Pre-pandemic net income for 2019 was $569 million. By the end of June
2022, days before the announcement by JetBlue that it offered to buy Spirit, Spirit posted
gross profits of $808 million. More than 30.77 million annual passengers fly on Spirit to 47
domestic destinations and 28 international destinations in 18 countries and the United States.
Its fleet of aircraft has climbed to 186 Airbus and McDonnell Douglas airplanes with 4 new
Airbus aircraft currently on order. Hubs have been established in Fort Lauderdale, Detroit,
Chicago, Dallas/Fort Worth, Houston, Las Vegas, and Newark. In addition to these
extraordinary successes and growth through increased capacity, Spirit is particularly well-
positioned for the anticipated future post-Covid demand for air travel for business and
pleasure. The future is “bullish™ for low fare carriers and Spirit is on the rise. It is nota
“failing company.” It is a rising star.

32. With such astonishing successes and an ever-increasing and loyal passenger
base among younger, budget-minded flyers, Spirit was eyed as a very substantial and
dangerous competitive threat to the status quo, and especially to its significant East Coast

rival, JetBlue Airlines.

! 33. On April 5, 2022, JetBlue, the sixth largest airline in the United

States, announced its tender offer proposal to acquire Spirit, the seventh largest airline in the
United States, for the equivalent of $3.6 billion. On May 2, Spirit announced that it would not
consider JetBlue's proposal because the elimination of a low-cost carrier would increase fares
for consumers and would exacerbate JetBlue's monopoly with American Airlines in the

Eastern Corridor.

34. Less than two months later, however, Spirit’s board accepted JetBlue’s
enhanced offer for the equivalent of $3.8 billion, with additional inducements to be paid
directly to Spirit shareholders of more than $400 million, and $200 million to the company,

should the deal not close.

35. Unless this merger of the sixth and seventh largest competitors in the national
airline market is prohibited, the unified company will become the fifth-largest airline by

revenue based in the United States with a national market share of 10.2%; and Spirit, the
_8-
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seventh largest airline by revenue, with a national market share of 4.9%, will be eliminated.
(See Chart Below.) Market concentrations with these numbers have in the past been held by
the Supreme Court to constitute a violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act. See 4.5"&/*(*""%$
38:7;<h.;<§L+<V(=5+'5-<"#5)(, 377 U.S. 271 (1964) (elimination of Rome Cable with
only 1.3% share of national market), 4 .5"'&/*(*""#§3%8>+ . M@#+)"#=51+., 384 U.S. 270 (1966)
(combination of nos. 3 and 6 becoming no. 2 with 7.5% of the Los Angeles market), and

4 588/ (183286 (A%, #'—5.B§1+., 384 U.S. 546 (1966) (nos. 10 and 18 in the national

market becoming no. 5 with 4.9%).

Rankings of Top U.S. Airlines
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36. JetBlue Airlines is the sixth largest airline in the United States. It is
headquartered in Long Island City, New York. JetBlue commands 5.3% of the national
market share of airline seats by revenue in the United States. JetBlue’s most recent annual
revenues for 2021 were $6.037 billion. Pre-pandemic net income for 2019 was $569 million.
JetBlue flies to 93 destinations across the United States, Mexico, the Caribbean, and Latin
America with approximately 1000 departures per day. In 2021, JetBlue carried 30.09 million
passengers. JetBlue’s fleet of aircraft is comprised mostly of Airbus and Embraer planes
totaling 254 aircraft. JetBlue has admitted that the purchase of Spirit will require the
consolidation of operations which will likely result in the firing of hundreds of Spirit
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employees and the retrenchment from duplicative facilities that will affect the local economies
where Spirit has hubs and branches — a manifest irreparable harm that once lost will never be
revived. The combination will result in the eradication of consumer choice, along with other
anticompetitive effects that may, and most probably will, flow from the elimination of Spirit
from the market. If, however, JetBlue (instead of combining with Spirit) were to compete for
market share rather than buying its way there, it has the wherewithal, the experience, the
knowledge, and the ability to expand on its own, which would necessarily increase
competition, lower prices, necessitate new jobs, increase consumer choice, invite investment,
and otherwise allow the consumer to enjoy the benefits that competition always provides.

37. The United States Supreme Court found it fundamental to free-market
economies that “Internal expansion [through competition] is more likely to be the result of
increased demand for the company’s products and is more likely to provide increased
investment in plants, more jobs and greater output. Conversely, expansion through merger is
more likely to #'&;)" available consumer choice while providing . +8.)#" (%"%.%. &;%*4=$
) (Y5 =ESF+AUS+H#+;*1 ;*. It was for these reasons, among others, Congress expressed its
disapproval of successive acquisitions. Section 7 was enacted to prevent even small mergers
that added to concentration in an industry.” ,#+—.8/0+", 370 U.S. at fn. 72 (Emphasis Added).

38. The proposed elimination of Spirit by JetBlue Airlines poses a substantial
threat to the Plaintiffs, and to the public at large, in that the proposed elimination will only
serve, as the Supreme Court warned, to “reduce available consumer choice while providing no
increase in industry capacity, jobs or output”, anddmay potentially cause loss to the Plaintiffs,
and the public at large, in the form of higher fares, less availability and frequency of flights,
less expansion to other destinations, curtailment of capacity, far less services and amenities,
the elimination of consumer choice and other potential anticompetitive effects which deprive
the Plaintiffs, and the public at large, of the salutary benefits of competition.

39. As is customary in these acquisitions, the first casualties of the removal of
competition will be the firing of employees who were only needed when competition existed.
These firings have not yet begun but are imminent. JetBlue has announced that it will
drastically consolidate redundant operations with Spirit upon consummation of the merger.
This announcement, made public, substantially advances the immediacy of action required to
restore competition before JetBlue takes steps to entrench its intention to eliminate Spirit as a
competitor. Although JetBlue has stated it will pass consolidation savings to customers,
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economic studies have concluded that T+%*6<"#B"#§145)"%$B" . "#(77=8&+S. +*$&")#" (%" but rather
5.)#" (%" between 3 and 7 percent.

40. The elimination of Spirit is manifestly an irreparable harm since competition of
the likes of Spirit would be irretrievably lost. Spirit is a significant, unique and, in fact, the
penultimate competitor of not only JetBlue, but also of the major carriers and other low-cost
carriers. Spirit is a vigorous competitor impacting and constraining all the Carriers, both
nationally and in many localized markets. Because Spirit offers diverse services at lower fares,
the National Carriers are constrained from taking their oligopoly to absolutely obscene limits
(although they are close) since, if they should attempt to do so, the traveling public could and
would switch to Spirit, which many have in fact already done with frequency.

41. Should the proposed elimination of Spirit go unchallenged, the nation would
not only lose the competition of Spirit, but also the potential competition that JetBlue would
provide by building its own national presence the old-fashioned way, by competing for
passengers instead of buying them. The proposed elimination of Spirit, therefore, will not only
eliminate the stout and particular competition of Spirit, but will also discourage continued
vigorous competition by JetBlue and will ultimately lessen the economic ideal espoused by

Congress and the Supreme Court for more consumer choice and more availability through

competition.
THE PARTIES
Plaintiffs
42. The Plaintiffs named below are individual citizens of the cities and states listed.

Each Plaintiff is an air passenger, and some are travel agents, all with the express interest and
intent in insuring that the unique qualities of Spirit are preserved as a competitive option for
them and for their customers, now and in the future. Many of the Plaintiffs have flown on
JetBlue and/or Spirit and/or American Airlines within the last four years. The potential
elimination of Spirit will cause loss and harm to the Plaintiffs, and to the public at large, of the
salutary benefits of the competition that Spirit brings, as well as the opportunity to fly and to
continue to fly on Spirit.

Gabriel Garavanian, Tyngsboro, MA;
Katherine R. Arcell, New Orleans, LA;
Jose' M. Brito, Reno, NV;

Jan-Marie Brown, Carson City, NV;
Rosemary D'Augusta, Millbrae, CA;
Brenda K. Davis, Forney, TX;
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Pamela Faust, Loveland, Ohio;
Carolyn Fjord, Winters, CA;

Don Freeland, Thousand Palms, CA;
Donna Fry, Colorado Springs, CO;
Harry Garavanian, Tyngsboro, MA;
Yvonne Jocelyn Gardner, Colorado Springs, CO;
Valarie Ann Jolly, Mabank, TX;
Michael C. Malaney, Grandville, MI;
Len Marazzo, Reno, NV;

Lisa McCarthy, Naples, FL;

Timothy Niebor, Clarkston, MI;
Deborah M. Pulfer, Sidney, OH;

Bill Rubinsohn, Jenkintown, PA;
Sondra K. Russell, Waco, TX;

June Stansbury, Reno, NV;

Clyde D. Stensrud, Kirkland, WA;
Gary Talewsky, Sharon, MA;
Pamela S. Ward, Garland, TX;
Christine Whalen, New Orleans, LA.

Defendants

43. Spirit Airlines, Inc. is a Delaware corporation and a major American ultra-low-
cost airline with its headquarters and principal place of business in Miramar, Florida, in the
Miami Metropolitan Area. Spirit operates scheduled flights throughout the United States and
in the Caribbean and Latin America. In 2020 Spirit was the largest ultra-low-cost carrier in
North America.

44, JetBlue Airways Corporation is a Delaware corporation founded in 1998 and
headquartered in Long Island City, New York with corporate offices also in Utah and Florida.
JetBlue is a major American low cost airline, and the seventh largest airline in North America
by passengers carried. JetBlue operates over 1,000 flights daily and serves 100 domestic and
international network destinations in the United States, Canada, Mexico, the Caribbean,
Central America, South America, and Europe.

45. In 2019, JetBlue flew over 42 million passengers to approximately 100
locations worldwide, taking in roughly $8 billion in revenues. JetBlue has a significantly
lower cost structure than the legacy airlines, allowing it to operate profitably even when
offering consumers lower fares. JetBlue offers two classes of service, which helps it compete

effectively against the legacy carriers for higher-paying leisure and business customers.
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46. In 2007, JetBlue sold 19% of the company to Lufthansa. By making use of
JetBlue's North America routes as a feeder network, the agreement put Lufthansa in a position
to operate quasi-hubs in New York—JFK and Boston Logan.

47. On July 15, 2020, JetBlue entered into a codeshare agreement with American
Airlines referred to as the Northeast Alliance which effectively gave JetBlue a shared
monopoly with American over flights in the Boston / New York corridor. Under this so-called
alliance the two “competitors” have agreed to share their customers and share their revenues
and coordinate which routes to fly, when to fly them, who will fly them and what size planes
to use on f